IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

	Electronically Filed
Corey Thomas Barnett,	Apr 27 2017 08:32 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Docket No. 71132

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Following a Jury Trial and Verdict Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Douglas Smith, District Judge Case No. C-16-312887-1

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

BEN NADIG Nevada Bar No. 9876 **LAW OFFICE OF BENJAMIN NADIG, CHTD.** 324 S. 3rd St. #200 Las Vegas, NV 89101 (702) 545-7592

Counsel for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

Jurisdictional Statement iv
Routing Statement iv
Statement of the Issues Presented for Review iv
Statement of Facts1
Statement of the Case 2
Summary of the Argument 2
Argument on the Issues
I. The Evidence Adduced at Trial was Insufficient to Sustain a Finding of Guilty on the Charge of Possession of a Firearm by a Prohibited Person
Conclusion5
Attorney's Certificate of Compliance6
Certificate of Service

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

United States Constitution
U.S. Const. amend. V
U.S. Const. amend. XIV
Nevada Statutes and Rules
Nev. R. App. P. 17 iv
Nev. R. App. P. 4 iv
Nev. Rev. Stat. § 202.360 iv
United States Supreme Court Cases
In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970)3
Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)3
Johnson v. Florida, 391 U.S. 596 (1968)4
Nevada Supreme Court Cases
Cunningham v. State, 94 Nev. 128, 575 P.2d 936 (1978)3
<i>Edwards v. State</i> , 90 Nev. 255, 524 P.2d 328 (1974)
<i>Hughes v. State</i> , 116 Nev. 975, 12 P.3d 948 (2000)4
<i>Runion v. State</i> , 116 Nev. 1041, 13 P.3d 52 (2000)4
<i>Woodall v. State</i> , 97 Nev. 235, 627 P.2d 402 (1981)4

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a verdict following a jury trial held before the Honorable Douglas Smith in the Eighth Judicial District Court and the subsequent Judgment of Conviction. (2 Appellant's Appendix [AA] 129-30, 145-46.) This Court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to NRS 177.015(3), which provides for the right to appeal a final judgment in a criminal case.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because it challenges only the sufficiency of the evidence presented at trial. NRAP 17(b)(1).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

There was insufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict of guilty on the charge of possession of a firearm by a prohibited person pursuant to NRS 202.360.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts that follow are those presented by the State at trial. On September 25, 2015, at around 9:00 AM, Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Detective Juan Fernandez, then a patrol officer, was dispatched to Lincoln Valley Road for a suspicious vehicle call. (1 AA 181:1-13, 183:13-184:3.) Officer Fernandez located the vehicle on the south side of the cul-de-sac. (*Id.* at 186:9-20.) Inside, Officer Fernandez found a woman, Ashley Allen, sleeping on the driver's side and Defendant-Appellant Corey Thomas Barnett sleeping on the passenger's side. (*Id.* at 187:20-188:12; 2 AA 14:15-15:12.) Officer Fernandez conducted a records check on the passengers; Ms. Allen had a traffic warrant. (1 AA 189:5-22.) The vehicle returned as registered to Irene Barnett, Mr. Barnett's mother, but it looked like a man and woman were living inside it. (*Id.* at 203:11-17; 2 AA 43:3-16.)

Officer Fernandez asked for assistance and Officer Christopher Deang responded to assist him. (1 AA 189:24-190:3; 2 AA 10:6-12:20.) The passengers got out of the vehicle at the officers' direction. (1 AA 190:11-17; 2 AA 15:22-16:8.) Officer Deang observed a firearm on the driver's side floorboard, and the officers then placed the passengers into handcuffs. (1 AA 192:3-193:20; 2 AA 18:19-19:1, 20:19-20.) Officers later discovered an airsoft – or pellet – gun on the passenger side. (1 AA 193:23-195:3; 2 AA 22:22-23:1, 25:17-23.) On searching Mr. Barnett, Officer Fernandez found two baggies of methamphetamine. (1 AA 196:11-21; 2 AA 21:13-17, 97:13-98:22.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 24, 2016, the State of Nevada filed an Indictment charging Defendant-Appellant Corey Thomas Barnett with trafficking in a controlled substance and ownership or possession of a firearm by a prohibited person. (1 AA 1-2.) The State filed an Amended Indictment on April 7, 2016, substituting a count of possession of a controlled substance for the trafficking count. (*Id.* at 4-5.)

Trial commenced on April 11, 2016, and lasted for two days. (1 AA 6; 2 AA 1.) The jury returned verdicts of guilty on both counts. (2 AA 129-30.) On June 15, 2016, the district court sentenced Mr. Barnett as a habitual criminal pursuant to NRS 207.010(a) to 12 to 30 months on the possession of a controlled substance count and a concurrent sentence of 96 to 240 months for the possession of a firearm by a prohibited person count. (*Id.* at 143:13-23, 145-46.) This appeal follows. (*Id.* at 147.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The evidence presented at trial did not establish that Mr. Barnett was capable of exercising dominion or control over the firearm located in the vehicle. The jury's verdict finding him guilty of that count beyond a reasonable doubt was therefore in error and must be reversed.

ARGUMENT ON THE ISSUES

I. <u>The Evidence Adduced at Trial was Insufficient to Sustain</u> <u>a Finding of Guilty on the Charge of Possession of a Fire-</u> <u>arm by a Prohibited Person.</u>

At trial, the State presented evidence that there was a gun in the vehicle where Mr. Barnett and Ms. Allen were sleeping. The State also presented evidence that, while the interior of the car was small, the firearm in question was located on the driver's side, under the seat where Ms. Allen was sitting. Mr. Barnett was therefore not in possession of the firearm, and the jury's verdict was erroneous.

A defendant in a criminal action is entitled to due process of law as guaranteed by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. The Constitution prohibits the criminal conviction of any person except upon proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970); *Edwards v. State*, 90 Nev. 255, 258-59, 524 P.2d 328, 331 (1974). In reviewing an insufficiency of the evidence claim, a court must determine whether, viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979). A verdict will be upheld only if supported by "substantial evidence." *Cunningham v. State*, 94 Nev. 128, 130, 575 P.2d 936, 937 (1978). The burden in a criminal case is always on the prosecution to prove that the accused

has committed an act in violation of a criminal statute. *See, e.g., Johnson v. Florida*, 391 U.S. 596, 598 (1968). A claim of self-defense requires the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant did not act in self-defense. *Runion v. State*, 116 Nev. 1041, 1052, 13 P.3d 52, 59 (2000).

In *Hughes v. State*, this Court found sufficient evidence when the gun was found in a car behind the metal adjustment bar under the driver's seat, pointing forward, with the hammer pulled back, and the defendant was seated behind the driver. 116 Nev. 975, 976, 982, 12 P.3d 948, 949, 952 (2000). In comparison, in *Woodall v. State*, this Court found insufficient evidence when nothing showed that the defendant "possessed or exercised dominion and control over the firearm in question." 97 Nev. 235, 236, 627 P.2d 402, 402 (1981). In that case, the weapon was found in a vehicle occupied by two individuals, and "the circumstances [did] not resolve who placed [the gun] there." *Id*.

The evidence presented here, like in *Woodall*, did not rise beyond the threshold of a reasonable doubt. None of the witnesses testified that they ever saw Mr. Barnett in actual possession of the firearm. Rather, the jury heard evidence that the firearm was found underneath the driver's seat, with the butt protruding from underneath the front of the seat where Ms. Allen was sitting. (1 AA 187:20-188:12, 192:3-193:20; 2 AA 14:15-15:12, 18:19-19:1, 20:19-20.)

The jury's verdict in light of the lack of evidence was untenable, as it was not supported by "substantial evidence" that Mr. Barnett committed the charged offenses. For that reason, this conviction should be overturned.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Mr. Barnett would ask this Court to vacate the conviction and sentence for possession of a firearm by a prohibited person in this case.