#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\_\_\_\_

Electronically Filed May 23 2017 09:22 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

COREY THOMAS BARNETT,

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 71132

## RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

BEN NADIG, ESQ. Nevada Bar #009876 Law Office of Benjamin Nadig, Chtd. 324 S. 3rd Street, #200 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 545-7592 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

## **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On September 25, 2015, Officers were dispatched to a residential area in reference to a call about a parked vehicle with people sleeping inside. 1 AA 183-84, 188. When they arrived, the officers observed a female, later identified as Ashley Allen (hereinafter "Allen"), sleeping in the driver seat and a black male adult male, later identified as Barnett, sleeping in the passenger seat. 1 AA 188. It appeared as though the two individuals were living in the vehicle. 1 AA 203, 2 AA 43. Officer Fernandez knocked on the driver's window, which woke up Allen. Id. She rolled down the window and both individuals verbally identified themselves to Officer Fernandez. 1 AA 188-89.

Officer Fernandez performed a records check which indicated that Allen had an active traffic warrant. 1 AA 189. Officer Fernandez requested backup and Officer Deang responded to assist. 1 A 189-90. The officers approached the vehicle to speak with Allen about her outstanding warrant. As Officer Fernandez spoke with Allen, Officer Deang observed. 1 AA 190. While Officer Fernandez was speaking with Allen, Officer Deang indicated that he saw a firearm in the vehicle. 1 AA 192. At that time, both suspects were asked to exit the vehicle and were placed in handcuffs. Id. Officer Fernandez located a silver semiautomatic firearm with a black handle in the driver side floorboard. 1 AA 193. An airsoft gun was also discovered on the passenger side of the vehicle. 1 AA 193-95, 2 AA 22-23.

Neither firearm was in a lockbox or any kind of container and based on the design of the vehicle, even though the firearms were found on the driver's side of the vehicle, they could be accessed by the person in the passenger seat. 1 AA 195-96. Barnett and Allen were placed into handcuffs and read their Miranda rights. Id.; Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444-45, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 1612 (1966). While performing the search incident to arrest, in Barnett's right coin pocket, Officer Fernandez located two baggies which appeared to contain a crystal-like substance which he recognized through his training and experience to be methamphetamine. Id.

Allen was agitated and upset as she was interacting with the officers. 1 AA 199. When they asked her about the firearm, she yelled towards Barnett "[r]eally, you're going to let me fall for this? Really?" 1 AA 199. The vehicle which Allen and Barnett appeared to be living in was registered to Barnett's mother, Irene Barnett. Id. Although the firearm was not registered to either Allen or Barnet, through his discussion with Allen and the course of his investigation Officer Fernandez was able to determine that Allen was not the owner of the firearm. 1 AA 198. Barnett was placed under arrest for possession of a controlled substance and possession of a firearm by a prohibited person and transported to the Clark County Detention Center. 1 AA 197.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Sufficient evidence supports Barnett's conviction. Officer Fernandez testified that he located a firearm on the floorboard of the vehicle where Barnett and Allen were found sleeping. The vehicle was registered to Barnett's mother, although it appeared he and Allen were living in it. The jury heard testimony that the officers determined the firearm did not belong to Allen. Further the jury heard testimony that Barnett had knowledge of the firearms as well as exercising dominion and control over it which was sufficient to find that he had constructive possession of the firearm. At trial the State admitted a certified Judgment of Conviction from the

Eighth Judicial District which proved that Barnett had previously been convicted of a felony.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTS BARNETT'S CONVICTION

"Where there is substantial evidence to support a jury verdict, it will not be disturbed on appeal." <u>Bolden v. State</u>, 97 Nev. 71, 73, 624 P.2d 20, 21 (1981). In reviewing a claim of insufficient evidence, the relevant inquiry is "whether, after reviewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Origel-Candido v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 378, 381, 956 P.2d 1378, 1380 (1998)."

Moreover, "it is the jury's function, not that of the court, to assess the weight of the evidence and determine the credibility of the witnesses." <u>Id</u>. This standard does not require this Court to decide whether "it believes that the evidence at the trial established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 319-20, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 2789 (1979). Rather, it is the jury's role as fact finder "[to fairly] resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts." <u>Id</u>. at 319, 99 S.Ct. at 2789.

Accordingly, a jury is free to rely on circumstantial evidence in rendering its verdict. Wilkins v. State, 96 Nev. 367, 374, 609 P.2d 309, 313 (1980). In fact, the

Nevada Supreme Court has consistently held that circumstantial evidence alone may sustain a conviction. See, Hernandez v. State, 118 Nev. 513, 531, 50 P.3d 1100, 1112 (2002); Deveroux v. State, 96 Nev. 388, 391, 610 P.2d 722, 724 (1980) (citing Crawford v. State, 92 Nev. 456, 552 P.2d 1378 (1976)). Further, "[i]n assessing a sufficiency of the evidence challenge, a reviewing court must consider all of the evidence admitted by the trial court, regardless whether that evidence was admitted erroneously." Stephans v. State, 127 Nev. Adv. Op. 65, 262 P.3d 727, 734 (2011) (emphasis removed) (citing McDaniel v. Brown, 558 U.S. 120, 131, 130 S.Ct. 665, 672 (2010) (quotations removed).

NRS 202.360(1) provides that any person previously convicted of a felony "shall not own or have in his or her possession or under his or her custody or control any firearm. . . ." Although NRS Chapter 202 does not define "possession" specific to the ex-felon-in-possession-of-a-firearm offense, this Court has construed possession in a variety of similar contexts:

The law, in general, recognizes two kinds of possession: actual possession and constructive possession. A person who knowingly has direct physical control over a thing, at a given time, is then in actual possession of it. A person, who, although not in actual possession, knowingly has both the power and the intention at a given time to exercise dominion or control over a thing, either directly or through another person or persons, is then in constructive possession of it.

Palmer v. State, 112 Nev. 763, 768, 920 P.2d 112, 115 (1996) (quoting Black's Law Dictionary 1163 (6th ed.1990)). From the evidence presented rational juror could have inferred that Barnett had dominion and control over the gun and thus constructively possessed it. See, Glispey v. Sheriff, 89 Nev. 221, 223-24, 510 P.2d 623, 624 (1973) (a person has constructive possession of contraband if he maintains control or a right to control the contraband); Woerner v. State, 85 Nev. 281, 284, 453 P.2d 1004, 1006 (1969) (dominion and control may be demonstrated through circumstantial evidence and reasonably drawn inferences); Bolden v. State, 97 Nev. 71, 73, 624 P.2d 20, 20 (1981); see also Hernandez v. State, 118 Nev. 513, 531, 50 P.3d 1100, 1112 (2002) ("[C]ircumstantial evidence alone may support a conviction.").

The record before this Court offers more than sufficient evidence upon which the jury could have concluded that Barnett was an ex-felon in possession of a firearm. A handgun and an airsoft gun were found in the vehicle where Barnett was sleeping. 1 AA 193-94. Neither firearm was in a lockbox or any kind of container. 1 AA 195-96. Based on the design of the vehicle, from the passenger seat, Barnett could have easily reached the firearms on the floorboard of the driver's side. Id. Officer Fernandez testified that he spoke with Allen about the firearm. 1 AA 198. He further testified that the conversation and the course of his investigation resulted in a determination that Allen was not the owner of the firearm. 1 AA 198. At trial,

the State admitted a Certified Judgment of Conviction from the Eighth Judicial District in Case C273458 which indicated that Barnett had previously been convicted of a felony. 2 AA 117.

Barnett's reliance on <u>Woodall v. State</u>, 97 Nev. 235, 236, 627 P.2d 402, 402 (1981) is misplaced. In <u>Woodall</u>, the defendant's companion acknowledged that the weapon was his and that Woodall knew nothing about its existence. <u>Woodall</u>, 97 Nev. at 236, 627 P.2d at 403. Here, Allen indicated by her conduct, acting agitated and upset, her excited utterance towards Barnett asking if he was "going to let her go down for this," and her conversation with Officer Fernandez that the firearm did not belong to her, and was in fact Barnett's. 1 AA 198-99. In Woodall the other individual identified the firearm as being theirs, where here, the other individual indicated that the firearm was not theirs, and in fact belonged to the defendant. Therefore, the instant case is distinguished from <u>Woodall</u>.

Although the theory presented by the defense was that the drugs and firearms belonged to Allen, the jury obviously believed the testimony of the officers that they determined that the drugs and firearms did not belong to Allen and concluded from it that Barnett constructively possessed firearm because he was aware of its location and exercised control over it by having direct access to it inside the vehicle where he and Allen were sleeping. Barnett attempts to entice this Court into inappropriately finding insufficient evidence to support a conviction because "none

of the witnesses testified that they ever saw Mr. Barnett in actual possession of the firearm." AOB 4.

The jury heard testimony that when she was questioned by officers about the firearm, Allen became upset and agitated and velled at Barnett "[r]eally, you're going to let me fall for this? Really?" 1 AA 199. Determination of what weight to apply to each piece of evidence is reserved to the jury, who had the benefit of evaluating the testimony at trial. Regardless of whether Barnett would like to ignore the legal principal of constructive possession, the judgement call as to sufficient evidence to support knowledge, dominion and control was properly submitted to the jury. After weighing the evidence, the jury determined that Barnett was guilty. This Court should not invade the province of the jury merely because Appellant disagrees with their conclusion. The fact that Barnett could easily access the firearm located on the floor of the vehicle he was in is circumstantial evidence to support the fact that he had dominion and control over it. This Court has previously held that dominion and control may be demonstrated through circumstantial evidence and reasonably drawn inferences. Bolden, 97 Nev. at 73, 624 P.2d at 20. Further, [Clircumstantial evidence alone may support a conviction. Hernandez, 118 Nev. at 531, 50 P.3d at 1112.

///

///

#### **CONCLUSION**

It is for the foregoing reasons that the State requests that the Judgment of Conviction in this case is AFFIRMED.